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Mowfield is a large plantation house standing at the end of a lane amid 
the flat farmland of Northampton County. The form of the two-story frame 
dwelling is quite unusual, as is the combination of Georgian and Federal 
style finish The house is L-shaped, with each section covered by a high, 
steep hip roof. The front section is five bays wide and two deep. Across 
the main facade extends a two-tier full-width 'porch, engaged under the high 
hip roof of the house. The ell extends two bays back from the two northwest 
bays of the rear (north) facade, and consists of a single room. Its hip 
roof is of equal height to that, of the front block. 

The exterior finish of the house is consistent and traditional: the 
walle are covered with robustly ~olded weatherboards and terminate in a 
handsome cornice with dentil courses above and below a band of undercut 
modillions, the lower dentil course being pierced. Three-part molded frames 
and molded sills occur at the windows, which have nine-over-nine sash at the 
first level and nine-aver-six at the second. The house stands on a brick 
basement laid in common bond.. Originally there was a chimney at either end 
of the front block and at the rear of the ell. That on the east side is 
gone; that on the west is an exterior end chimney with single shoulders, of 
brick laid in one-to-five common bond; that at the rear--evidently rebuilt-­
has an exposed face all the way up, interrupted only by the cornice (here 
consisting only of a single dentil course). At the rear, there are sections 
of the foundation which are of brick laid in Flemish bond. 

Particularly interesting is the two-tier porch which covers the front 
(south) facade At each level there are unacademic turned posts with 
neckings and four-sided capitals. Between them runs a replacement openwork 
balustrade. At the first level, the posts carry a cornice overlaid with 
wide semicircular arches. At the second, the elaborate classical cornice of 
the main block is repeated~ and the lower element of it breaks out as caps 
over the posts. The first-story porch ceiling is sheathed, the second 
plastered. The central entrance 'is rather elaborately treated. A double 
door, each leaf with three raised panels, is set in a three-part molded 
frame. Flanking it are unusual fluted pilasters- rising in two stages, the 
second being quite short, flanking the transom. Soringing from the top of 
the second stage is a heavy cornice adorned with a molded dentil band that 
rises to a triangular arch--formingn with the pilasters, a five-sided 
transom. The pilasters stand on well-defined bases and terminate in caps 
composed of bands of molding. Above the base and below the cap are demi­
sunbursts. The shape of the transom as well as the ornament are evidently. 
related to the Hermitage (a tripartite house at. Tillery, Halifax County, 
not far away). The second-story door is more simply treated; it is a single 
six-panel door in a molded frame, beneath a five-light transom whose frame 
is considerably wider than the door The rear door of the main section is 
also simple, a double door with molded frame and rectangular transom Doors 
on either side of the rear ell are alsol s_imply treated" 

The interior of the front sec tion follm·7s a center-hall plan one room 
deep, and the ell room is of roughly equal size to the west parlor~ off 
which it leads. The main stair rises in the northwest corner of the hall, 

and a secondary stair, which is enclosed, rises along the \-1all betweeil the. 
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west parlor and the ell room. (Thus, although it seems unlikely and surface 
treatment does not indicate it, the two west rooms. the parlor and the ell, 
can read as a hall-and-parlor plan with enclosed stair.) 

The finish is generally consistent through:111t 5 with walls plastered above 
a £1 at-pane] ed toJainscot with Georgian half-round mol clings. DoorR general] y 
have six raised panels and some retain HL hinges attached Hith rosehead nails 
and leather washers. The molded chair rail func tions also as the w·indow sills 
The windows in the front rooms are framed in heavy crossetted architraves. 
The east mantel is gone;. the west is a heavy po.';;l'=Victorian replacement" The 
mantel in the ell room has a molded backband two~~stage fluted pilasters that 
carry a simple shelf, and a single raised panel across the frieze. 

Of particular interest is the handsome, unusual Georgian stair that 
rises in the main hall. Three initial steps begin at the rear entrance, a 
turn is made with winders, and a single flight rises back-to-front to the 
second story. The open string of both parts has simple \-Jave brackets sand 
there are heavy turned balusters carrying a robust molded handrail. The small 
initial flight has a swooping rail terminating in a vertical volute adorned 
on its sides by an incised sunburst. At the juncture of the flights is a 
tall) heavy chamtered post \vith molded cap. from which the upper handrail 
continues, beginning with an abrupt ramp. A much longer ramp occurs at the 
top, and there is a smaller chamfered post. The spandrel and soffit are 
fully flat-paneled, and a six-panel door leads to the closet beneath the 
stair. Altogether the stair is a striking composition, the vigor of its 
ornament emphasized by the compactness of its form 

The second-story walls are plastered and have a beaded baseboard and 
chair rail. The large west room contains an interesting vernacu]ar mantel 
with two-stage fluted pilasters, the first stage defined by a molding adorned 
\·7ith incised sunbursts. The backband is gouged and has inc:ised fans at the 
corners. A flat panel extends across the frieze, and the heavy molded cornice 
has an unusual dentil eourse with alternate dentils bejng rounded and pierced. 
The ornament of the mantel~-partic1Jlarly the demisunburr:ts and the unusual. 
dentil cornice--is, like the entrance, related to that at the Hermitage. The 
east half of the second story is divided into a hall and three small rooms, 
with the hall entered from the main hall through an arch carried on pilasters. 
The ell room contains a mantel quite similar to that below. The enclosed 
stair serving this room is finished with flush sheathing. 

To the rear of the house a small frame two-part outbuilding remains. The 
outline of the race track can also be determined at some times of the year. 
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Howfiel (1 is a handsome plantation house of strikingly unusual fo~ms 
with its dramatic, high hip roof' over a double porch, and an interesting 
combination of Georgian and vernacular Fede:ral fini.sh" It is of consider­
able importance as the seat of the colorful and prominent Amis family who 
were horse breeders of national reputation.. Mowfield Plantation waG also 
the home of Sir Archie, one of the greatest thoroughbred sires of the 
nineteenth century and ce.rtainly the champion of North Carolina T s racing 
heyday. 

As early as 1758, John Arnis, a native of Hiddlesex County, Virginia, 
was owner of a small plantation in northwestern Northampton County. John, 
and his wife, Mary Dillard Amis, had two sons, Hi11i.am and Thomas. Willtam 
came to manhood at the beginning of the Revolution, and on May 6, 1776, 
was appointed commissary of ,the Third Regiment of Continental Troops. A 
commissary combined the duties of quartermaster, purchasing agent, and 
ordnance officere He remained in military service off and on until 1779, 
when, according to strong local tradition, he became a private purchasing 
agent for military supplies, and had made a large fortune out of the war by 
the time hostilities ended in 1783 That his purchasing power was increased$ 
is evident in his acquisition of more than 8~OOO ae.res of land in North­
ampton between October, l78l)and 1809. About 1783 William Amis married 
Susannah Wilburn, daughter of Robert and Lucy Hilburn of Northampton 
County, and purchased land from them that year. 

In John Amis' will, exhibited in August Court in 1764, he gave "to my 
son ~'lilliam Arnis my land & plantation at the death of my wife or marriage • 
... ~ .~ If William and Susannah Amis probably made t,heir home at his father Y 8 

plantation "tvhile Vlilliam bought up land in the agriculturally rich 
Oc:coneechy Neck sec tion of Northampton, v-lhich supported a \vealthy planter 
class. William Amis, as the records of the county sho\v, put together 
,the Amis fortune that \Vas a large and obvious force in northeastern North 
Carolina and southside Virginia for half a century. The contrast between 
~villiam and his father is a clear example of hm-7 small planters of the 
colonial period moved into the large planter class of Jeffersonian times. 

On January 6, 1802, Hilliam Arnis purchased, for $7,,054, 1,364 acres 
in Northampton County, from John and Sarah Taylor of Southampton County, 
Virginia e This large plantation was put together by Thomas T<1illiamson, 

a wealthy absentee 1)lanter of SouLl-Lampton County; who at his deQth, l~_ft itj 
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to his daughter Sarah Williamson Taylor. Stylistic evidence would indicate 
that William Amis, who traditionally has been credited as builder of the 
Mowfield house, began his mansion soon after the purchase of the land in 1802. 

William and Susannah Dillard Amis had two children, John Dillard Amis and 
~...ary Amis Both are said to have been born in the l780s.. John Dillard Amis 
entered the University of North Carolina in 1802, remained one year, and 
returned to Northampton to marry Elizabeth Bynum. The couple was settled by 
William Amis on a plantation west of Mowfield which they called the Hhite 
Fouse .. 

In 1816 William Amis received from Allan Jones Davie, son of General 
William Richardson Davie, a former governor of North Carolina and minister to 
France, the famous race horse, Sir Archie. Allan Jones Davie at the time was 
living on his New Hope plantation in Halifax County, and Amis received the 
horse, it is said, in repayment of a large debt. 

Sir Archie was sired by Diomed out of Castianira and probably foaled at 
Mount Airy, the elegant estate of John Tayloe, III, in Essex County, Virginia. 
Both through his sire and dam, Sir Archie was descended from the-Byerly Turk, 
Darley, and Godolphin Arabians, three of the most famous race horses in 
eighteenth century England. Sir Archie was an equally famous get in America 
who raced at all the prominent jockey club meets from New York to Charleston, 
and· "TaS the mos t successful and celebrated horses of his time. His career as 
a sire was even more notable than his racing record. Sir Archie died on 
June 7, 1833, and was probably buried at Mowfield. Today, all American 
thoroughbreds can trace a century-and-a-half back and there find Sir Archie 
in their pedigrees. 

John Dillard Amis ~'las an avid gambler and keen businessman. In his 
father's late years, he managed Sir Archie, though his doing so caused hostilit 
between father and son 

Hilliam Amis was left a ~.,idower by 1823, and about this time he fathered 
a natural daughter by a young woman of the county, which he provided for amply 
before his death in 1824. At his death, William Amis left Sir Archie to John 
D. Amis, and all his large land holdings to John's three sons, William Dillard, 
Thomas and Junius Amis. John and Elizabeth moved from the White House to 
HOvlfield ,,,here, according to his father's will, he vTaS to supervise the plan­
tation for his sons, until they came of age. Junius A~is received several 
teacts including the Hm.,field tract, which alone included 1,364 acres. He was 
regarded as the most troublesome of the three sons, who were wild and turbulent 
boys T.vi th hot and quick tempers. He was ~vilfull, fond of fine clothes) 
extravagant, and where he went, trouble followed. His elopement with C~leste 
Hawkins, daughter of a governor of North' Carolina, against his father's wishes, 
caused a break in happy relations at MOi;vfield. His debts constantly embarassed 
.J.ohn D. Amis Junius and Hilliarn D. Amis T.vere so hot-tempered and their 
escapades so numerous t.ha t neighbors coined the phrase: "A drop of Amis blood 
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would poison the Atlantic ocean .. u The saying persists today in Northampton 
County, and present-day descendants point to the phr"ase as showing their 
individuality 

As adults ~ the Amis brothers t hot-tempered charaete)~ c:ontinued ~ and 
fina.lly OTI2 brother's adventures led to the dep::t1:'tl1re of the family from the 
county. In the election year of 1834, William Dc' Amts announced on the Whig 
ticket for a seat in the North Carolina SenateD Ilis popular and influential 
Democratic opponant was Colonel William B. Lockha]:t, a resident of the 
Oc-:cneechy l'J2ck. After a turbulent campaign; Lockhar-t \Vas declared the "'"inner:- < 

During the campaign William D. Alllis tried to club a Lockhart supporter to 
death at Whitets Hotel in Jackson~ North Carolin8e Public outrage coupled 
with numerous other public embarrassments caused the father, John D. Amis, to 
emigrate to Hississippi" Thomas Amis and his wife accompanied John and 
Elizabeth Amiso WilliaJj1 soon follOlved them~ and after selling most of his 
inheritance in small trac ts, Junius P.mis sold MOv7field to Colonel Ethelred 
Peebles for $10, 750 on February 20, 1837 There is no proof that .Junius Amis 
ever lived at Nmvfield house after his ~lQFanent with Celeste Hawkins, who died 
soon afterward. They are said to have lived at Silver Hill, a nearby planta­
tion, where Junius had ,a race course and continued his interest in horses .. 
Junius A'1lis may have remained at Silver Hill unttl as late as IJe.cemDer 14, 1840 
\A7hen he sold his las t bit of Northamp ton property to Colonel. Peebles. Junlus 
and his family finally joined the rest of the Amis family in Mississippi~ He 
died in Louisiana just after the Civil War. 

Colonel Ethelred I. Peebles was a large N"orthampton landowner, havj,ng 
purchased most of the Junius Amis property between J.833 and 1840~ He j:,s 8aj~d 
to have made his home at Hmvfield) and after his death the estate passe.d to 
his son, E. John Peebles ~ and soon afterward to Id,s children, E • .Tonn Peebles, 
Jr., and Sarah B. Peebles ~ \-1i£e of George S, Urquhart of' Southampton" Coun1"y ~ 
Virginia.. On VlClrch 17 1897, Peebles and the Urquharts, through William 
Hallace Peebles, their uncle and a local attorney, 88 trustee, sold the "land 

.. known as Howfield YI to H. tv ~ Ransom" of Northampton County. 

Hatt ~fuitaket Ransom was a Healthy planter, enthusiastic turfman, former 
Confederate brigadier general, senator, and minister to Mexico. His home, 
Verona, stood across the road from Mowfield. At the death of General Ransom 
in 1904, the Mm"field plantation was left to his son, Patrick Exum Ransom 
Patrick Ransom married late in his life to Hay Blakeney Beacham, a \vidow \vi.th 
t~.;ro sons, Cecil and Frank Blakeney Heacham. Patrick and Hay Ransom had one 
son, M..att Ttl. Ransom, III. After the deaths of Patrick Ransom and his son 
Hatt, III, MO~\lfield went to Hrs. Ransom's son, Frank B.~eacharn 

HO'ivfield has been the subj ec t of numerous ar tis ts) the mos t notable of 
these being Edward Hopper, Hho in the late-1930s did a watercolor of the house 

lon, co~mission f~om Elizabet~ ~. la~ncharc1, a descendc:nt of Junius Amis. This 
~alntlng was wi~led to the Unlverslty of North Carollna at Chapel Hill at 
I " 
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Mrs. Blanchard's death in 1956. More recently, Sarah Blakeslee, wife of 
Francis Speight, has done several watercolors of the Mowfield house, one of 
which has been added to the collection of the Northampton County Historical 
Society. 
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Howfie1d 
Jackson vicinity 
North Carolina 

N.C. Highway Commission Hap (no USGS map available) 
Scale: ~If: 1 mile 
Date: January, 1974 

Latitude Longituae 

degrees minutes seconds degrees minutes 
mv 36 2!t 10 77 28 
NE 36 24 10 77 ~8 

SE 36 23 39 77 28 

SW 36 23 39 77 28 
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